



Grimsby Downtown Improvement Association

Meeting date: Wednesday, November 8, 2023

Meeting time: 9 am

Meeting Place: Teddy's Sports Bar, 30 Main Street W, Grimsby

Board members: Mayor Jordan, Councillor Davoli, Mark Wood, Simon Duong, Christine Kempf, Daniel Vandersteen, Chris Mindorff, Lacey Horn

Attendance:

- 1. Call the Meeting to Order
- 2. Approval of the Agenda (Additions/Deletions)
- 3. Declarations of Interest
- 4. Approval of the Minutes a. October 11, 2023
- 5. Business Arising from the Minutes
- 6. Reports
 - a. Financial Report (Q3) Plans to execute a Budgetary Meeting
- 7. New Business
 - a. Ladies Night Progress
 - b. Xmas Shopping Night Progress
 - c. Xmas Planters (Quote) execution
 - d. Xmas Decorations and Installation
 - e. Xmas Parade Sponsorship
- 8. Draft Procedural By-law (Distribution)
- 9. Closed Session
 - a. Proposed Executive Director Candidate

- i. Section 239(2)(b) of the Municipal Act states a closed meeting is held if the subject matter being considered is personal matters about an identifiable individual, including municipal or local board employees.
- ii. Section 239(2)(d) of the Municipal Act states a closed meeting is held if the subject matter being considered is labour relations or employee negotiations.

10. Adjournment

Grimsby Downtown Improvement Association

Meeting date: October 11, 2023

Meeting time: 9 am

Location: Teddy's Sports Bar, 30 Main Street West, Grimsby

Attendance: Mark Wood, Councillor Davoli, Simon Duong, Daniel Vandersteen, Lacey Horn, Chris Mindorff, Christine Kempf

Absent: Mayor Jordan

Staff: Sarah Kim – CAO, Jessica Beaupre – Committee Coordinator

Others: Gary Graham – Graham Stephenson Kennedy LLP, Rebecca Shelley – Grimsby Chamber of Commerce

11.Call the Meeting to Order

The meeting was called to order at 9:03 am.

12. Approval of the Agenda

Moved by: Member Duong Seconded by: Member Vandersteen

Resolved that the agenda for the October 11, 2023 BIA meeting be approved.

CARRIED

13. Declarations of Interest

There were no declarations of pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest.

14. Approval of the Minutes

- a. September 13, 2023
- b. October 2, 2023

Moved by: Member Duong Seconded by: Member Kempf

Resolved that the following BIA minutes be received:

- September 13, 2023
- October 2, 2023

CARRIED

15. Business Arising from the Minutes

There was no business arising from the previous minutes.

16. Delegation

a. Allan Gaumond – Concert Series in Coronation Park

Mr. Gaumond was not able to attend the meeting. **The Chair** presented the email correspondence sent to him by Mr. Guamond and explained this is just an idea, and something the BIA can vote on next meeting. Members of the Board engaged in discussion on this idea. The Chair explained he would reach back out to Mr. Gaumond to get more details from this, and it will be added to the agenda for the next regular meeting to further discuss.

17. Reports

There were no reports to consider.

18. Verbal Updates

a. Christmas Market Plans

The Chair explained there may be a conflict with another Christmas Market and inquired if the BIA market would still go forward. The Board discussed this and decided that instead of a market, they could do a late night shopping event. They also discussed bringing in some vendors for Ladies Night instead, and possibly using the alley way to host these vendors. **Member Kempf** said she would start contacting some local vendors, and would bring back a more specific proposal to the Board in November.

For Ladies Night, **Member Horn** explained the branding for the event would benefit from some professional design. She highlighted the importance of having other businesses posting about the event with professional graphics. She suggested a local marketing company, Spaceless, to do the creative design for social media graphics, ads, bingo cards, etc. She was quoted at \$400.00 for the service.

Moved by: Member Mindorff Seconded by: Member Duong Resolved that the \$400.00 expense for Ladies Night marketing materials be approved.

CARRIED

b. Garden Club invoicing

The Chair explained he has spoken with the Garden Club about invoicing for the previous planters, and will clear up the miscommunication with them this week. He also explained he has sent a letter to the president to clarify the BIA buys the planters, and Town Staff handles putting them up, taking care of them, and taking them down at the end of the season. **Member Mindorff** suggested they have conversations with the Garden Club to see what role they could help play in future beautification for the BIA. **Councillor Davoli** suggested the BIA should write a letter to Community Services Staff at the end of the year to thank them for their efforts in helping with the planters.

c. Christmas Parade

The Chair explained the Board can expect correspondence from Community Services Staff on this item for the next agenda. **Member Duong** confirmed he spoke with Trevor from Community Services, and they will be sending an ask to November's meeting.

d. Executive Director - Progress Update

Member Mindorff gave an update on the Executive Director search. After the Board approved the hiring policy at the last meeting, they have scheduled several interviews to take place this week. Member Duong, Member Vandersteen, and Member Mindorff will be conducting the interviews. They are also working on the operation policy, which they hope to bring either to the next meeting along with a candidate recommendation, or potentially call a special meeting. Board members asked for the job description to be circulated. There is no official start state set for the Executive Director, but it would ideally be January 1st, 2024.

19. New Business

Member Duong brought forward a resolution on behalf of Mayor Jordan regarding the GEDEAC Tourism Strategy.

Moved by: Member Wood Seconded by: Member Duong Be it resolved that a letter of support be sent to GEDAC to endorse the Town's funding application submission and to support the creation of a tourism strategy.

CARRIED

Member Mindorff inquired about the status of the Condo project. The Board discussed inviting regional staff, the Regional Councillor, and Public Works staff to come to a meeting to speak about this with them. **Rebecca Shelley** from the Chamber of Commerce explained they are hosting their Business Excellency Awards event on October 18, 2023 and all are welcome to attend. She noted they will be having a lunch and learn event on October 24 on legal tips for small businesses, and there will be several more events to come from the Chamber. Rebecca noted they are looking to collaborate on some educational events with the BIA next year, such as a CPR and first aid training for small businesses. The Chair asked Rebecca to come with a list of proposals to the BIA's February meeting to discuss this further.

20. Closed Session

Moved by: Member Duong Seconded by: Member Kempf

Resolved that the BIA meet in closed session under:

- Section 239(2)(e) of the Municipal Act, where a closed meeting is held if the subject matter being considered is litigation or potential litigation, including matters before administrative tribunals, affecting the municipality or local board; and
- Section 239(2)(f) Advice that is subject to solicitor-client privilege, including communications necessary for that purpose;

CARRIED

Moved by: Member Mindorff Seconded by: Councillor Davoli

Resolved that the direction from closed session be acted upon.

CARRIED

21. Adjournment

The meeting was adjourned at 10:40 am

BIA Annual Surplus Report December 31, 2023

Projected Overall Explanation

ings in downtown beautification and advertising costs

						-	Q3 Projection	
Account Code		Account Name	Budget - 2023	Total ⁴	Adjustments ²	Forecasted 2023	Projected (Surplus)/ Deficit	Details
Revenues								
11-1-821013-01320	013	DOWNTOWN IMPROVEMENT AREA LEVY	(87,350)	(87,350)		(87,350)		
Total Revenues			(87,350)	(87,350)		(87,350)		
Expenses								
11-2-821121-26100	121	PRINTING STATIONARY, SUPPLIES	700	56	19	75	(625)	
11-2-821121-26560	121	DIA SPECIAL EVENT EXPENSES	6,000	12,000	-	12,000		Actual: Happening in Grimsby sponsorship \$10,000, Comedy show sponsor \$2,000
11-2-821121-29930	121	MEETING EXPENSES	500				(500)	
11-2-821121-31400	121	MEMBERSHIPS AND SUBSCRIPTIONS		244	-			Actual: OBIAA membership
11-2-821121-32500	121	ADVERTISING/PROMOTIONS	29,400	559	9,800	10,359	(19,041)	Forecast is 1/3 of the budget for balance of year
11-2-821121-32600	121	TELEPHONE	•		-	-		
11-2-821121-33730	121	FACADE IMPROVEMENTS						
11-2-821121-33900	121	PROFESSIONAL FEES	1,760	(217)	4,535	4,318		Forecasted audit fees and projection is for Legal expense
11-2-821121-33910	121	WEBSITE	1,000	1,326	-	1,326	326	
11-2-821121-34200	121	CONTRACTED SERVICES		-	-	•		
11-2-821121-38110	121	TAXES WRITTEN OFF	3,000		-		(3,000)	
11-2-821121-38120 11-2-821121-38140	121	VACANCY REBATES CHARITABLE REBATES	400	295		- 295	(105)	
11-2-821121-38140	121	AMORTIZATION	400			205	(202)	
11-2-821121-43000	121	DOWNTOWN BEAUTIFICATION	29,900	2,610	9,967	12,577	(17 3 3 3	Forecast is 1/3 of the budget for balance of year
11-2-821121-57940	121	TRANSFER TO RESERVES	14,690	11,018	3,673	14,690	(22,22)	Forecast is 4/3 of the budget for belance of year
11-2-821121-57960	121	TRANSFER TO INVESTED IN CAPITAL	-		-	-		
Total Expenses			87,350	29,990	27,993	55,639	(31,711)	
Total Operating				(57,360)	27,993	(31,711)	(31,711)	

Notes: 1 Total as of November 6, 2023 for the period ending September 30, 2023 2 Projection for Q4 (remaining 3 months of the year)

Opening reserve balance	141,167
Budgeted reserve transfer	14,690
Projected surplus transfer	31,711
Projected ending reserve balance	187,568

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF GRIMSBY BY-LAW NO:

A by-law to adopt procedures for Boards of Management for Business Improvement Areas (BIA).

WHEREAS pursuant to section 204(2.1) of the Municipal Act, 2001 as amended a business improvement area is a local board of the municipality for all purposes; and

WHEREAS pursuant to section 270(2) a local board shall adopt and maintain policies with respect to the following matters: its sale and disposition of land, its' hiring of employees and its procurement of goods and services; and

WHEREAS pursuant to 216(5) of the Municipal Act, 2001 as amended the boards of management follow rules, procedures and policies established by the municipality; and

WHEREAS the Council of the Town of Grimsby desires to require the boards of management of business improvement areas to follow certain procedures and policies established by the municipality;

NOW THEREFORE THE COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF GRIMSBY ENACTS AS FOLLOWS:

1. All Boards of Management of BIA's established by the Town of Grimsby shall be governed by the Procedure attached to this By-Law as Schedule "A".

Read and passed this	day of	2023.
neau anu passeu inis	uay ui	2023.

CLERK

MAYOR

SCHEDULE "A" TO BY-LAW NO.

PROCEDURES FOR BOARDS OF MANAGEMENT FOR BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT AREAS (BIA)

1. **DEFINITIONS**

"Act" means the Municipal Act, 2001 as amended and any regulations thereto.

"Administrator" means an employee or independent contractor for the BIA who oversees administrative support services to the Board, and if applicable is responsible for the day to day operation of the Board office.

"Associate Business" means a business located outside the boundary of the BIA, which participates in the BIA in accordance with a policy adopted by the BIA under section 2.9.

"BIA" means a business improvement area established by Council.

"**BIA Designating By-law**" means a by-law approved by Council to designate a geographical area as a business improvement area.

"BIA Establishing By-law" means a by-law passed by Council to establish a Board of Management for a designated business improvement area.

"Board" and "Board(s) of Management" means a corporation consisting of Directors, established by the Town to govern the affairs of a BIA.

"Town" means The Corporation of the Town of Grimsby.

"Town Clerk" or "Clerk" means the Clerk of the Town of Grimsby or her/his delegate.

"**Committee**" means a standing committee or ad hoc working group established by the Board that has a membership that is at least 50% Directors.

"Council" means the town Council for the Town of Grimsby.

"Director" means an individual appointed by Council to the Board of Management.

"**Meeting**" means any regular, special or other meeting of the Board or a standing or ad hoc Committee of the Board.

"**Member(s)**" means a person(s), including but not limited to a corporation, assessed on the last returned assessment roll, with respect to rateable property in the area designated as a BIA that is in a prescribed business property class, and tenants of such property.

"**Recording Secretary**" means a person who may be a Director, Member, Administrator or a volunteer who is appointed by the Chair to assume the duties of Secretary at any Board or Committee meeting in the absence of the Secretary or if no Secretary is elected by the Board.

2. BOARD REQUIREMENTS

2.1 Board Responsibilities

- 1) The Board of Management shall, subject to the provisions of this by-law and the BIA Establishing By-law have control and management of the BIA's activities; determine all policies; supervise the affairs of the BIA; authorize all expenditures in accordance with the budget approved by Council, report to the BIA's Members on its actions affecting the administration, activities and policies of the BIA, and maintain a liaison with the Town of Grimsby staff representatives.
- 2) The Board may hire an Administrator or other staff as required to manage the day to day operations of the BIA.

2.2 Code of Conduct

- 1) The Town of Grimsby's By-law 20-74 a Consolidated by-law; "A by-law to establish a Code of Conduct for the Town of Grimsby and Local Boards of the Municipality" applies to the conduct of all Directors, with necessary modifications.
- 2) Code of Conduct complaints are administered by the Town Clerk and the Board or the Administrator shall inform the Clerk forthwith upon the receipt of any complaint, and shall cooperate fully with the Clerk and the Integrity Commissioner appointed to investigate the complaint. Likewise if the Town Clerk directly receives a complaint involving a Director, the Clerk shall forthwith inform the Board and provide the Board with appropriate notice of the progress and outcome of the complaint.

2.3 Office Location

1) Offices for the BIA, <u>if any</u>, shall be located within the boundaries of the BIA.

2.4 Appointment of Officers

- 1) The Board shall elect from among themselves at its first meeting the following Officers: Chair, Vice Chair, and Treasurer; and may elect from among themselves a Secretary and such other Officers as it deems necessary to properly conduct the business of the Board.
- 2) The Secretary and Treasurer may be the same Director.
- 3) If no Secretary is elected by the Board, the chair is responsible to ensure that the duties of the Secretary are performed by another responsible individual who shall be the Recording Secretary and who may be an Administrator, a Member or volunteer; but that person is not a Director or Officer.
- 4) Officers shall serve for the entire term of the Board unless a shorter term is approved by resolution of the Board. A resolution approving a shorter term must include the last date by which the second election of Officers shall be held, and shall be in effect only for the term of the Board that passed the resolution.
- 5) Officers are eligible for reappointment provided they continue to be a Director.

2.5 Role of Officers

a. Chair

- 1) The Chair will preside at all Meetings of the Board and the Members, follow the agenda, decide on whether motions are in order, rule on all procedural matters and maintain decorum.
- 2) The Chair will ensure motions and amendments are clearly expressed and, if there is no motion under consideration, summarize the discussion for the purpose of the minutes.
- 3) If a procedural matter is not provided for in this By-law, the BIA Establishing Bylaw or the Act the matter shall be decided by the Chair, who may have regard to The Corporation of the Town of Grimsby Procedural By-law 20-65 (Consolidated) or Robert's Rules of Order. The Chair's decision is final.
- 4) The Chair shall exercise general supervision over the affairs of the Board, but may delegate administrative functions associated with that responsibility to another Director or an Administrator as required.
- 5) The Chair is the official spokesperson for the Board and in that capacity is to express only the official opinion or position of the Board. If the Board has

engaged administrative support, the Board or the Chair may authorize the Administrator to issue public statements on behalf of the Board.

b. Vice Chair

- 1) The Vice Chair will perform the duties of the Chair in the Chair's absence or if the Chair is unable for any reason to perform those duties or if the position is vacant.
- 2) The Board may from time to time assign additional duties to the Vice Chair.

c. Secretary

- 1) The Secretary will give notice of each regular and special Meeting of the Board and prepared and distribute an agenda of the matters to be considered so that the notice and agenda will reach the Members, Town Staff assigned as liaison to the BIA and the public in accordance with the notice provisions.
- 2) The Secretary will give notice of the Annual General Meeting and any Special Meeting of the Members together with an agenda of the matters to be considered so that the notice and agenda will reach
- 3) The Secretary will prepare and distribute minutes of every Meeting of the Board by attaching them to the agenda for the next regular Meeting, or as soon as possible.
- 4) The Secretary shall provide the Town Clerk or delegate copies of all minutes within five (5) business days after they are confirmed by the Board.
- 5) The Secretary shall be custodian of all books, records, correspondence, contracts and other Board or BIA documents, unless otherwise delegated by the Board to an Administrator and subject to any requirements imposed by the Town or by law.

d. Treasurer

- Shall receive and account for all monies of the BIA, keep on deposit at the BIA's financial institution of record all monies received, keep full and accurate accounts of all receipts and disbursements and disburse all funds by cheque unless otherwise directed.
- 2) Shall submit an up-to-date statement or receipts and disbursements at each regularly scheduled meeting of the Board.

- 3) Shall provide to the Members an annual financial report at the Annual General Meeting and will provide assistance to the Town of Grimsby in preparation of the financial statements for the BIA.
- 4) Shall prepare and distribute the proposed annual budget in accordance with the requirements of the Town of Grimsby.
- 5) Shall sign all cheques of the BIA. If the position of Treasurer is vacant or the Treasurer is otherwise absent or unavailable, the Chair may sign cheques.
- 6) The Board may engage the services of an accountant or bookkeeper to assist the Treasurer, and may delegate the administrative duties of the Treasurer to an Administrator.

2.6 Committees

- 1) Standing and ad hoc committees may be established by the Board by motion and the motion shall include the specific purpose or terms of reference of the Committee and the members of the Committee.
- 2) The Board Chair shall appoint the Chair of each standing and ad hoc Committee. The Board Chair shall not chair any Committee except an Executive Committee.
- 3) The Chair of every Committee shall be a Director.
- 4) Every Committee shall have a Recording Secretary appointed by the Committee.
- 5) All Committees shall report to the Board, and a Committee except an Executive Committee, shall not take any action intended to be binding on the Board and shall not make or incur any liability for the Board.
- 6) When an ad hoc Committee has made its final report it is automatically disbanded.
- 7) Ad hoc Committees may include members that are not Directors or Members.
- 8) The Chair is an ex-officio member of all Committees established by the Board but does not count towards quorum and does not vote.
- 9) The Board may establish an Executive Committee, comprising the Chair, Vice-Chair, Secretary and Treasurer which shall have the authority to act for the full Board in the intervals between Board Meetings on such matters as authorized by the Board and necessary to conduct the business of the BIA.
- 10) Each Committee shall report its activities to the Board at each regularly scheduled Board Meeting, either by the Chair of the Committee or by a Director representing the Committee and the report shall be recorded in the minutes. Any

written report is to be attached to the minutes of the Board Meeting at which it is presented.

2.7 Resignations, Vacancies, Absences

- 1) If the status of a Director nominated by the Board changes so that he or she is no longer a Member of the BIA the Director is deemed to have resigned.
- 2) If a Director resigns or is deemed to have resigned, the Board shall report the resignation to the Town Clerk as soon as practical to do so.
- 3) Directors or Committee members that are unable to attend shall notify the Chair or Secretary to report their absence, prior to the Meeting date and/or time.
- 4) If a Director misses three consecutive Board Meetings without notification or cause acceptable to the Board, the Chair or Administrator will contact the absent Director to discuss the reasons for the absenteeism. The Director shall be advised that attendance or the approval of the Board to permit the continued absence is required, or the Board may request Council to declare the seat vacant and replace the Director.
- 5) Where a vacancy occurs from any cause, the Town Clerk will advise Council of the vacancy and the need for a replacement, if necessary to fill the minimum number of Directors required in the Establishing By-law or if the Board requests that the vacancy be filled.
- 6) In the case of a vacancy that occurs after the initial appointments, the Board may nominate for Council's consideration an eligible person to fill the vacancy without conducting an election by the Members.
- 7) Any Director appointed by Council to fill the vacancy shall hold office for the balance of the term of the Director whose place is vacant.
- 8) The attendance of Committee members that miss Committee Meetings without notification or acceptable cause, or which absence otherwise impacts the Committee work shall be addressed by the Committee Chair who may ask the Board to declare the Committee seat vacant. Vacancies on Committees shall be filled by the Board.

2.8 Role of Town Staff Representatives

- 1) Town of Grimsby staff may be assigned to liaise with the BIA at the discretion of the Town. Staff assigned in this capacity are not Directors or Members and do not vote.
- 2) The Board does not direct Town staff. Any advice or recommendations of the Board that require implementation, reports or other action by staff, that is outside the scope of work reasonably contemplated by the Town, shall be requested in a Motion and, when necessary, approved by the appropriate department head or Council unless otherwise delegated.

3. MEETINGS OF THE BOARD OF MANAGEMENT AND COMMITTEES

3.1 General

1) The rules and procedures contained in the By-law shall be observed in all proceedings of the Board and Committees. Where greater clarification is required the Board shall seek guidance from the Town Clerk.

3.2 Location

- 1) Board and Committee meetings shall be held at the BIA Office (if there is a designated office), or a location approved by resolution of the Board or Committee.
- 2) The Meeting location must be held at a premise within the boundaries of the BIA and be held in a location that is open and accessible by the public for the duration of the Meeting.

3.3 Notice

- The Board shall provide public notice of its regular and any special Meetings, including the date, time and location of the meeting at least three business (3) days in advance of the meeting date by posting the agenda on its website and in a visible location in the BIA office, if applicable or where the Meeting will take place. The agenda shall be considered as notice of meeting.
- 2) An annual schedule of meetings shall be prepared and made available to the Members and the public.
- 3) Notice shall also be provided to the Town staff liaison assigned to the BIA.
- 4) If the BIA does not maintain a website the Board shall comply with the direction of the Town Clerk regarding alternative procedures for public notice.

3.4 Quorum

- 1) Quorum for Board Meetings shall consist of a simple majority of the Directors appointed by Council. Quorum for Committees shall consist of a simple majority of the members appointed by the Board.
- 2) A vacant position will not be counted to calculate quorum.
- 3) In the event quorum is not present 15 minutes after the time the Meeting is to start, or if quorum is lost during a Meeting for a period of 15 minutes or the member leaving the Meeting clearly indicates that they will not return to the Meeting, the Meeting will then stand adjourned until the next scheduled Meeting, or at the call of the Chair.
- 4) If neither the Chair nor Vice Chair has arrived 15 minutes after the time the Meeting is to start and, if a quorum is present, one of the other members of the Board or Committee may be unanimous consensus assume the Chair and preside at the Meeting until the arrival of the Chair or Vice Chair.
- 5) In the event that there is no quorum or if quorum is lost during a Meeting, the members present may agree to proceed informally with the agenda and any proposals made at the informal gathering will be reported by the Secretary to the next scheduled Meeting for consideration. No Motions or votes can be taken at an informal gathering.

3.5 Meetings

- At the first Meeting of each term, the Board shall establish a schedule of regular meetings with the provision that at least four meetings shall be held each year. The regular schedule may be reviewed by the Board from time to time as necessary.
- 2) Special meetings of the Board may be called by the Chair, on 24 hours' notice, when exceptional or urgent circumstances require the Board to meet. The notice of a special meeting shall include an agenda and indicate the exceptional or urgent circumstances that require the meeting.
- 3) If a written request is made by a majority of the Directors to call a special meeting, it is the duty of the Chair to summon a special meeting on 24 hours' notice.
- 4) A regular meeting that is rescheduled is not a special meeting.

- 5) Members of the Board are expected to try to attend every Meeting at the time established, be prepared for the Meeting by reading the Agenda in advance, and to be prepared to discuss agenda items.
- 6) Meetings of the Board shall not conflict with regular meetings of Council or Standing Committees (if possible).
- 7) Meetings shall not be held electronically and no member of a Board or Committee may participate electronically in a meeting.
- 8) If the Secretary or a recording secretary is absent at any Meeting of the Board or a Committee, the Chair shall appoint another person present to be the recording secretary for the Meeting and to prepare the minutes of the Meeting. The appointment shall be recorded in the Minutes.

3.6 Agendas, Minutes, Records

- 1) An agenda and minutes are required for every Meeting of the Board or a Committee.
- 2) Items to be included on an agenda for a Board Meeting must be submitted to the Secretary by 10 business days before the Meeting, whenever possible, or the Chair, in consultation with the Secretary, may establish a schedule of agenda deadline dates.
- 3) Directors may submit items for inclusion on the Board agenda by giving them to the Secretary by the agenda deadline date.
- 4) The Chair in consultation with the Administrator if applicable, shall set the agenda, based on matters submitted prior to the agenda deadline.
- 5) The Chair will accommodate Directors requests for inclusion of agenda items, whenever possible, but the Chair has the final decision about which items are included on the agenda.
- 6) Any communication or agenda item that is received prior to a Meeting but too late to be included in the agenda may be added to the agenda by the Chair, if it pertains to a matter listed on the agenda or is considered by the Chair to be urgent. Otherwise, it will be included on the agenda of the next subsequent Meeting.
- 7) In accordance with the principles of adequate notice, transparency and openness new substantive items should not be introduced on the Agenda during a Meeting as new business.

- 8) Confidential material will be distributed by the Secretary to the Directors and Town staff representative assigned to the Board under confidential cover, and may also be provided to other selected Town officials.
- 9) The minutes shall record who was in attendance, where the Meeting took place, when the meeting started and adjourned, who chaired the Meeting, whether any participants left or arrived while the meeting was in progress and if so, what time this occurred, any persons that appeared and addressed the Meeting, a detailed description of the substantive and procedural matters discussed, including any specific documents considered, any motions, including the person moving the Motion, and all votes taken, and all actions approved or directions given.
- 10) The minutes of each Board Meeting will be submitted to the Board for confirmation at the next meeting, or as soon as possible.

3.7 Open Meetings

- Except as provided in section 239 of the Act, all meetings of the Board or Committees shall be open to any Member and the general public, who may attend but may not take part in the proceedings unless invited to do so by the Chair. No person shall be excluded from a Meeting except for improper conduct.
- 2) Open Meetings, requires Directors to discuss and debate the matters on the agenda at the Meeting held for that purpose. It is not appropriate for Directors to discuss or deal with a matter that materially advances the business or decision making of the Board or Committee outside of Meetings, including through electronic communications.

3.8 Meetings Closed to the Public

- 1) The Board or a Committee may be closed to the public only if the subject matter to be considered is:
 - I. The security of the property of the BIA;
 - II. Personal matters about an identifiable individual, including BIA employees;
 - III. A proposed or pending acquisition or disposition of land by the BIA;
 - IV. Labour relations or employee relations;
 - V. Litigation or potential litigation including matters before administrative tribunals affecting the BIA;
 - VI. The receiving of advice that is subject to solicitor-client privilege, including communications necessary for that purpose;
 - VII. A matter in respect of which the Board is authorized by provincial statute to meet in private; or

- VIII. The meeting is needed for the purpose of education or training of the members, and ad the meeting no matter is discussed in a way that materially advances the business or decision-making of the Board or Committee.
- 2) The Board or Committee shall meet in private if the subject matter being considered is:
 - I. A request under the Municipal Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy (MFIPPA) or Public Documents Cat, if the Board is the head of the institution for the purposes of the Act; or
 - II. An ongoing investigation respecting the Board by the Ombudsman appointed by the Ombudsman Act or closed meeting's investigation appointed by the Municipal Act.
- 3) A motion is required before meeting in private and the motion must identify the general subject matter to be discussed and the reason for meeting in private.
- 4) Voting is not permitted in private. Any motions must be moved and voted on in public. Where a matter has been discussed in private, and where the matter remains confidential, Directors shall not disclose the content of the matter discussed or the substance of the discussions.

3.9 Rules of Debate

- 1) The Chair decides the order in which persons speak or ask questions and makes sure that every person indicating a desire to speak has an opportunity to speak to an item on the agenda.
- 2) When a proposal is made, the Chair may re-state the proposal to ensure that everyone understands the intent. The proposal may then be discussed and the discussion may include possible changes to the wording of the proposal. When the discussion is concluded the Chair may frame the resulting proposal as a motion that can be voted upon.
- 3) A motion requires a mover and a seconder.
- 4) A motion relating to a matter not within the jurisdiction of the Board or Committee is not in order.
- 5) A motion to approve the minutes of a previous Meeting is an opportunity to correct any errors or omissions in the minutes. It is not in order on a motion to approve the minutes to re-open discussion on any matter recorded in the minutes.
- 6) A motion to reconsider any matter previously decided may only be moved by a member that voted on the prevailing side, and requires a two-thirds majority of

the members present to pass. No matter may be reconsidered more than once during the term of the Board or Committee that decided it.

7) A Board or Committee may hear deputations from Members of the public at its discretion and may set limits for speaking time. It is in order for the Board to limit the maximum number of deputations on matters not on the agenda. The Chair may end a deputation if there is disorder or a failure to observe decorum.

3.10 Voting

- 1) Every member present including the Chair must vote, unless they have declared a conflict of interest.
- 2) If a member that has not declared a conflict of interest abstains from voting, it will be counted as a NO vote.
- 3) A simple majority of the members present is necessary to pass a motion, except a motion to reconsider a matter previously considered by the Board during the current term or to amend a by-law which shall require a vote passed by twothirds (2/3) of the members present.
- 4) A tie vote means that the motion is defeated.
- 5) All votes will take place by show of hands unless requested by a member.
- 6) Upon the request of any member, and when the Chair is satisfied that a matter under consideration contains distinct proposals, the vote upon each proposal may be taken separately.
- 7) There shall be no proxy voting of any kind at Meetings of the Board or any Committees established by the Board.
- 8) Proxy voting for the purpose of electing Board Directors may be allowed.
- 9) Voting is not permitted at an informal gathering.

3.11 Conflict of Interest

- 1) Directors shall comply with the *Municipal Conflict of Interest Act.*
- 2) Members of Committees that are not Directors or members of Council are not subject to the *Municipal Conflict of Interest Act;* nevertheless Committee

members should disclose any financial interest in a matter under consideration at a Meeting, and should avoid taking part in any discussion of the matter or voting if their financial interest is not an interest in common with other persons interested in the Committee's terms of reference, and is of a sufficiently significant and personal nature that it could influence their participation.

- 3) The Secretary shall record all declarations of interest in the minutes and whether or not the member participated in the discussions and voted on the matter.
- 4) Quorum is not lost if a member that has declared a conflict of interest has left the meeting temporarily.

3.12 Action to be taken

1) Where the Board or Committee approves an action to be taken that is within the authority of the Board or Committee, the person authorized to take the action may do so immediately and does not need to wait for the minutes of the Board or Committee to be approved.

4. MEETINGS OF MEMBERS

4.1 Annual General Meeting

- 1) There shall be at least one (1) annual general meeting in each calendar year.
- 2) The Annual General Meeting agenda shall include, but not be limited to:
 - a) Minutes of the last annual general meeting;
 - b) Annual activity and financial report of the Board;
 - c) Audited financial statements;
 - d) Proposed annual budget for the following year;
 - e) Election of Board directors (if a municipal election year); and
 - f) Any other business that may properly be brought before the meeting.
- 3) Notice of all general Members' meetings shall be sent to each Member no less than ten (10) business days prior to the meeting. The notice shall be sent to the address last provided by the Member, or where no address is provided, to the property address of the owner(s) indicated on the last municipal assessment roll.
- 4) Notice of the meeting shall include the formal agenda. New business may be received from the floor after the formal agenda has been completed.

- 5) No business shall be transacted at an annual general meeting unless a quorum of the Board is present.
- 6) The Board's complete audited financial statements, with balance sheet and revenue expenditure statements, must be available at the annual general meeting.
- 7) In a municipal election year the Members at the Annual General Meeting shall nominate persons for consideration by Council to be appointed as Directors for the next term of the Board.

4.2 Special Meetings of the Members

- 1) The Board may also call and hold at any time one or more Special General Meetings to deal with special issues or to update the membership.
- Upon written petition by the lessor of 20% or twenty (20) Members stating a cause of concern, which shall be considered as the agenda of the meeting, the Board shall call a special meeting to deal with the cause or concern within thirty (30) days of receipt of the petition.
- 3) Notice of all special Members' meetings shall be sent to each Member no less than five (5) business days prior to the meeting.

4.3 Voting

- 1) Each Member is entitled to only one vote regardless of the number of properties they own or lease in the BIA.
- 2) There shall be no proxy voting of any kind at Members meetings, including voting at the Annual General Meeting, except that a corporate Member may nominate in writing, by letter delivered to the Secretary prior to the commencement of the meeting, one individual to vote on its behalf (ie: election of Board Directors). Such nomination shall be effective until it is replaced or revoked by further written letter.

4.4 Director Nomination Procedures

1) The Board shall conduct elections for Directors as part of the Annual General Meeting in a Council election year for the purpose of providing the incoming

Council with a list of Members for consideration to appoint as Directors for the new term of the Board.

- 2) The Board may present to the Annual General Meeting a list of nominees for approval by the Members; provided the list of nominees is provided to the Members at least ten (10) days prior to the Annual General Meeting.
- 3) Notwithstanding the foregoing, nominations can be made at the meeting from the floor provided the nominee is present or has consented in writing to the nomination, but Members are encouraged to present nominees to the Board in advance of the meeting.
- 4) If required, a secret ballot vote of the Members present shall take place to determine the final list of nominees to be forwarded to the Town in accordance with the following procedure:
 - a) Voting shall take place immediately following the close of nominations.
 - b) Each Member present may cast one (1) vote.
 - c) The Board shall appoint two (2) scrutineers to count the ballots immediately following the close of voting.
 - d) If two or more candidates receive the same number of votes and cannot both or all be declared elected, one scrutineer shall choose, in the presence of the other scrutineer and the Board Chair, the successful candidate or candidates by lot.
 - e) All ballots cast shall be kept securely for ten (10) days following the election; after which they shall be destroyed if no candidate disputes the election results.

5. FINANCIAL REQUIREMENTS

5.1 Remuneration and Expenses

- 1) Directors serve without remuneration.
- 2) The Board may adopt an expense policy to reimburse Directors or employees for reasonable expenses incurred in the course of conducting BIA business.
- 3) A policy to permit the reimbursement of expenses must comply with the Act, and be in writing.

5.2 Cheque Requisition (Town of Grimsby By-law 2005-022, Section 19)

1) The above-noted by-law provides direction to the Treasurer of the Town to establish a process for the requisitioning of cheques. This process was

presented to the Grimsby Downtown Business Improvement Area Board on May 3rd, 2023; and may be changed from time to time.

- 2) The BIA Treasurer will provide a signed cheque requisition to the Town's Accounts Payable Department and the Senior Financial Analyst for processing and payment.
- 3) Cheque requisition requires two (2) Board signatures. Requisition must be signed by any two of either the Chair, Vice Chair, Treasurer or Secretary.
- 4) Cheque requisition must also include the original invoice number, payee, purpose of the cheque requisition and amount to be paid. The applicable invoice is to be attached to the cheque requisition for processing.
- 5) Payment will be processed through the Town's accounts payable section and will be done by either EFT (electronic funds transfer) or cheque.

5.3 Banking

1) The Town processes all the BIA's expenditures.

5.4 Auditor

- 1) The Town's auditor shall be the auditor of the Board and all books, documents, transactions, minutes and accounts of the Board shall, at all times be open to the auditor's inspection.
- The Town on behalf of the Board shall submit the financial records of the BIA to the Town's Auditor. The financial information of the fiscal year ending December 31 will be submitted to the Auditor on or before February 28 of the following year.
- 3) When the auditor has identified audit or financial reporting issues through the preparation of a management letter, the Board shall submit a letter to the Town's Treasurer indicating how and when the Board intends to address the issues.

5.5 Fiscal year

1) The fiscal year for the BIA shall be the calendar year ending December 31st.

5.5 Budget process

1) The Board shall prepare and submit to Council or the appropriate Standing or Committee of Council a proposed budget for each fiscal year on or before December 31 for the following year in the form required by the Town, and shall hold at least one meeting of the Members of the BIA for presentation and discussion of the proposed budget prior to its submission to the Town.

5.6 Limitations

- 1) The Board shall not spend any money unless it is included in the budget approved by Council or in a reserve fund. The Board may spend unexpected revenues received within the year, with the approval of the Board and reports these revenues and expenditure variances at the annual general meeting and through the audited financial statement.
- 2) The Board shall not borrow or lend money.
- 3) The Board shall not incur indebtedness extending beyond the current year without prior approval of Council.
- 4) The Board shall not make or fund improvements to private property.

5.7 Signing Officers

1) The Chair and Treasurer shall jointly be the authorized signing officers for any contracts entered into by the BIA, subject to any delegation authorized pursuant to the procurement policy adopted by the Board.

5.8 Insurance

- 1) The Town's insurance provider makes available liability coverage, to the members of the BIA Board for situations extenuating from failure or omissions to act.
- 2) The BIA Board must ensure, when hosting or sponsoring events that the appropriate insurance is in place in advance of the event. The BIA should submit to the Town a request for a certificate of insurance providing reasonable time for the Town and the insurer to process.

6. REPORTING AND RECORD KEEPING REQUIREMENTS

 Boards shall keep all papers and documents pertaining to the business of the BIA, and all books, documents and files kept by the Board and BIA shall be under the custody and control of the Town Clerk and her/his designate.

- 2) The Town of Grimsby's records retention by-law applies to all Board and BIA records and the records shall be retained and preserved in accordance with the provisions of the by-law.
- 3) For the purposes of the *Municipal Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act (MFIPPA),* the Board shall be the Head, unless the Board designates an individual or a committee from amongst themselves to be the Head or otherwise delegates the responsibilities of the Head to an Administrator.